IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

NO. 21-0214 Grievance Commission No. 889

IOWA SUPREME COURT ATTORNEY DISCIPLINARY BOARD,

Complainant-Appellee,

v.

BRUCE A. WILLEY,

Respondent-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA SUPREME COURT GRIEVANCE COMMISSION PROPOSED FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, AND RECOMMENDATIONS DATED FEBRUARY 16, 2021 Thomas D. Hobart, President of Panel 889

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

DAVID L. BROWN ALEXANDER E. WONIO

Hansen, McClintock & Riley 520 Walnut Street-5th Floor Des Moines, IA 50309 Telephone: (515) 244-2141 Facsimile: (515) 244-2931 <u>dlbrown@hmrlawfirm.com</u> <u>awonio@hmrlawfirm.com</u>

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT-APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. DID THE GRIEVANCE COMMISSION ERR IN FINDING RESPONDENT VIOLATED RULES OF PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT IN HIS REPRESENTATION OF MIDWEST?

Iowa Supreme Court Attorney Disciplinary Board v. Parrish, 801 N.W.2d 580, 583 (Iowa 2011)

Iowa Supreme Court Board of Prof'l Ethics & Conduct v. Freeman, 603 N.W.2d 600, 603 (Iowa 1999)

Iowa Supreme Court Board of Prof'l Ethics & Conduct v. Hohenadel, 634 N.W.2d 652, 655 (Iowa 2001)

Iowa Supreme Court Attorney Disciplinary Board v. Marks, 759 N.W.2d 328, 332 (Iowa 2009).

Iowa Supreme Court Attorney Disciplinary Board v. Clauss, 711 N.W.2d 1, 4 (Iowa 2006)

Iowa Sup. Ct. Atty Disciplinary Bd. v. Hamer, 915 N.W.2d 302, 322-323 (Iowa 2018)

Iowa Sup. Ct. Atty Disciplinary Bd. v. Wintroub, 745 N.W.2d 469, 474 (Iowa 2008)

Iowa Sup. Ct. Bd. of Prof'l Ethics and Conduct v. Wagner, 599 N.W.2d 721, 727-728 (Iowa 1999)

Brandon v. W. Bend Mut. Ins. Co., 681 N.W.2d 633, 642 (Iowa 2004)

Kantaris v. Kantaris, 169 N.W.2d 824, 830 (Iowa 1969)

State v. Mulatillo, 907 N.W.2d 511 (Iowa 2018)

Butt v. Iowa Bd. of Med., 836 N.W.2d 152 (Iowa App. 2013)

II. DID THE GRIEVANCE COMMISSION ERR IN FINDING RESPONDENT'S PRIOR SUSPENSION WOULD HAVE BEEN MORE SEVERE?

Iowa Supreme Court Attorney Disciplinary Bd. v. Noel, 933 N.W.2d 190 (Iowa 2019)

Iowa Supreme Court Bd. Of Prof'l Ethics & Conduct v. D'Angelo, 652 N.W.2d 213, 215 (Iowa 2002)

Iowa Supreme Ct. Att'y Disciplinary Bd. v. Tindal, 949 N.W.2d 637, 644 (Iowa 2020)

Iowa Supreme Court Atty Disciplinary Bd. V. Willey, 889 N.W.2d 647, 658 (Iowa 2017)

Iowa Sup. Ct. Atty Disciplinary Bd. v. Powell, 901 N.W.2d 513, 516 (Iowa 2017)

Iowa Supreme Court Attorney Disciplinary Board v. Marks, 759 N.W.2d 542 (Iowa 2009)

Iowa Sup. Ct. Atty Disciplinary Bd. v. Wintroub, 745 N.W.2d 469, 474 (Iowa 2008)

ROUTING STATEMENT

As this is a matter regarding attorney discipline, it must be retained by the Iowa Supreme Court. Iowa Ct. R. 35.10.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case. This primary matters in this case involved the complaint of a former client who filed an ethics complaint on the hells of having his meritless civil action against attorney dismissed. These matters, a vast majority at issue in the case, were all decided in Respondent's favor.

However, although the complaining former client's assertions were proven to be without merit in the disciplinary matter, the Commission did make findings relative to a separate client. This client did *not* file a complaint. This client did *not* appear and testify at the hearing. This client did *not* waive his attorney-client privilege.

The circumstances presented in this case should not allow for speculative and unsubstantiated findings that support a violation by Respondent. In forcing attorney to meet his burden, without an express waiver of the attorney-client privilege, attorney is effectively barred from defending himself. Contrary to law, the attorney-client privilege was effectively used as both a sword and a shield against the defenseless attorney. **Relevant Events of Prior Proceedings**. In February of 2017, the Supreme Court of Iowa entered opinion in Case No. 16-1228 against Respondent (see *Iowa Supreme Court Attorney Disciplinary Board v. Willey*, 889 N.W.2d 647 (Iowa 2017). Therein, the Respondent's licensed was suspended for violating the Rules of Professional Conduct governing conflicts of interest. *Id*. (App. p. 244)

In 2017, former client, David Wild, filed a civil lawsuit against Respondent seeking monetary damages. (App. p. 434) The civil lawsuit was dismissed shortly thereafter. (App p. 434) In 2018, following the dismissal of the civil lawsuit against Respondent, Mr. Wild filed a Complaint with the Attorney Disciplinary Board. (App. p. 433) That Complaint came for hearing with the Grievance Commission on November 9-10, 2020. (App. p. 327)

On December 14, 2020, Respondent submitted his Post-Hearing Brief. (App. p. 35)

Disposition of the Case Before the Grievance Commission. Pursuant to hearing, the Grievance Commission entered its Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Recommendations (App. p. 58). Relevant to this appeal, the Commission's Order contained the following:

1. Finding that Respondent violated multiple Rules in his conduct with client Midwest SN Investors, LLC ("Midwest"). (App. pp. 67-70)

- 2. Neither Midwest, nor any of its representatives appeared and testified at the hearing. (App. p. 62)
- 3. The attorney-client privilege barred Respondent from offering evidence/testimony as to any matters involving Midwest and its representatives. (App. p. 62)
- 4. As a result of the attorney-client privilege bar, and fact no one testified on behalf of Midwest, Exhibit 43 was the only evidence considered with regard to Respondent and any purported conflict of interest with Midwest (or its representatives). (App. p. 67)
- 5. Finding the Supreme Court of Iowa would not have increased Respondent's existing suspension (aforementioned Case No 16-1228) another sixty (60) days if this case would have been presented together with that prior matter. (App. p. 70)
- 6. Recommending that Respondent's license be suspended for thirty (30) days. (App. p. 70)

Summarily, Respondent now appeals from these elements of the

Commission's Order. (App. p. 71)

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

This case presents a unique and challenging issue insofar as essentially none of the operative facts or evidence were presented in analyzing Respondent's conduct in relation to a purported conflict of interest with Midwest. As the Commission concedes:

[Midwest] did not appear at the hearing, and [Respondent] was prevented from any further testimony by the attorney/client privilege.

(App. p. 62)(emphasis added)

At the time of hearing, the tangible evidence regarding Respondent's conduct was limited to the introduction of Exhibit 43-a Consent and Waiver between Midwest and Respondent. (App. p. 300; p. 67) The testimony about Respondent's related conduct was even more limited. (App. pp. 367-368)

Notably, however, as it pertained to a basic understanding of his responsibilities under the Rules, Respondent testified as follows:

My understanding was that I had to disclose what the transaction was, what my interest in the transaction was, tell the client to seek other counsel, to advise them in getting into the transaction and to obtain written consent and waiver after the **conversations** with them.

(App. pp. 368-369)(emphasis added). As a result of Respondent's inability to disregard the attorney-client privilege with Midwest, he was never able to detail any "conversations" he had with Midwest and its representatives. (App. p. 67)("[Respondent] was severely limited by the attorney/client privilege...")

For his part, Complainant, Mr. Wild, admitted that he did not have any communications or involvement with Midwest and its representatives. (App. p. 449)

The record was effectively *void* of any information concerning the communications and interactions between Respondent and Midwest (or its representatives).

APPELLANT'S ARGUMENTS

I. THE GRIEVANCE COMMISSION ERRED IN FINDING RESPONDENT VIOLATED THE RULES OF PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT PERTAINING TO HIS REPRESETATION OF MIDWEST.

PRESERVATION OF ERROR/ SCOPE OF REVIEW

<u>Error Preservation</u>: This matter is fully preserved in the docket filings, hearing Exhibits, Grievance Commission hearing transcript, and the Commission's Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Recommended Sanction.

<u>Scope and Standard of Appellate Review</u>: The Court reviews attorney disciplinary proceedings de novo. *Iowa Supreme Court Attorney Disciplinary Board v. Parrish*, 801 N.W.2d 580, 583 (Iowa 2011). The appropriate discipline in a particular case turns on the nature of the alleged violations, the need for deterrence, protection of the public, maintenance of the reputation of the profession as a whole, and the Respondent's fitness to continue in the practice of law. *Iowa Supreme Court Board of Prof'l Ethics & Conduct v. Freeman*, 603 N.W.2d 600, 603 (Iowa 1999).

There is no standard discipline for a particular type of attorney misconduct. *Iowa Supreme Court Board of Prof'l Ethics & Conduct v.*

Hohenadel, 634 N.W.2d 652, 655 (Iowa 2001). The form and extent of any sanction must be tailored to the specific facts and circumstances of each individual case. *Iowa Supreme Court Attorney Disciplinary Board v. Marks*, 759 N.W.2d 328, 332 (Iowa 2009). The Court is, however, concerned with maintaining some degree of consistency throughout disciplinary cases. *Iowa Supreme Court Attorney Disciplinary Board v. Clauss*, 711 N.W.2d 1, 4 (Iowa 2006).

ARGUMENT

Despite the admitted dearth of evidence regarding the communications and interactions between Respondent and Midwest, the Commission made an unsupportable expanse of findings that relied on unfair inference and speculation-effectively using the attorney-client privilege as a sword against the Respondent! This no-win situation for the Respondent left him unable to defend himself. In evaluating the lone piece of purported evidence, Exhibit 43, (App. p. 300) the Commission impermissibly concluded that the lack of any additional evidence-that which was not permitted by the attorney-client privilege-was tantamount to there being no additional evidence upon which Respondent's conduct should have been evaluated. In its Order, the Commission identified the Respondent's burden in addressing allegations regarding his conduct in representing Midwest: "[T]he burden shifts to the attorney to demonstrate that he acted in good faith and made a full disclosure." (App. p. 67) (internal citation omitted).

In analyzing an attorney's conduct under such allegations, the Supreme Court expressly contemplates "**discussions**" between the client and attorney as part of the requisite disclosure. *Iowa Sup. Ct. Atty Disciplinary Bd. v. Hamer*, 915 N.W.2d 302, 322-323 (Iowa 2018)(The disclosure must include a detailed, situation-specific *discussion* ...)(emphasis added); *Iowa Sup. Ct. Atty Disciplinary Bd. v. Wintroub*, 745 N.W.2d 469, 474 (Iowa 2008)(Court's analysis contemplated detailed advice, indicating the disclosure requirements could be met with "oral summaries."); *Iowa Sup. Ct. Bd. of Pof'l Ethics and Conduct v. Wagner*, 599 N.W.2d 721, 727-728 (Iowa 1999)(Lawyer's obligation contemplates a duty to *explain* and see that a client understands the issues.)(emphasis added).

It is clear that the Rules do *not* require the entirety of the disclosure to be commemorated in writing-truly such satisfaction would be impossible.

Contrary to the Supreme Court's direction, the Commission set an improper expansive duty to memorialize all details in writing: "There were clearly significant portions of the transaction by which Midwest loaned Catalyst \$200,00, but were clearly not disclosed in writing by [Respondent] to Midwest." (App. p. 68)

In relying solely on the Consent and Waiver in Exhibit 43, the Respondent was robbed of an analysis that would contemplate all the circumstances as he stood in judgment. Worse, the Commission ultimately made findings contrary to the Respondent as a result of his inability to present evidence.

In finding violations, the Commission made the following far-reaching conclusions:

- 1. Respondent did not accurately convey his status as an owner of Catalyst in his communications with Midwest. (App. pp. 67-68)
- 2. Respondent did not provide Midwest any financial information or details concerning the transaction. (App. p. 67)
- 3. Respondent did not inform Midwest that the money it was loaning was going to be invested in a high-risk venture or would not be secured and was in a foreign market. (App. p. 68)
- 4. Respondent did not inform Midwest that he would receive monies from the loan directly. (App. p. 68)

5. Midwest lost \$200,000 in the transaction. (App. p. 69) The Commission makes these affirmative findings based solely on the conclusion that: if they are not expressly documented in the Consent and Waiver, then they did not happen. As to Midwest's loss, and its amount (#5 above), that is pure speculation.

In the attorney-disciplinary process, a client's Complaint serves as a waiver of the attorney client privilege. This reality is set out on the Board's website for clients to appreciate from the outset:

Waiver of Attorney-Client Privilege

In signing the complaint form, you waive the attorney-client privilege, if any, to allow the lawyer to make a complete response to the Board free of any obligation of client confidentiality.

(https://www.iowacourts.gov/opr/attorneys/attorney-discipline); See also Iowa R. Prof'l Conduct 32:1.6. And of course, *based on principles of fairness*, this should be the case! (see, *Brandon v. W. Bend Mut. Ins. Co.*, 681 N.W.2d 633, 642 (Iowa 2004)(providing that waiver may be implied by "conduct making it unfair for a client to invoke the privilege"); *Miller*, 392 N.W.2d at 505 (same); *Kantaris v. Kantaris*, 169 N.W.2d 824, 830 (Iowa 1969)(Any other rule would subject the lawyer to any kind of scurrilous and unjust attack, and convert the statute from being a mere shield into a weapon of offense.) However, that waiver is not applicable in this case, as the client, Midwest, has not put any attorney-client privileged communications at issue. The present matter contemplates what a recent Iowa Ethics Opinion (Op. 15-03) characterized as "Self-Defense Waiver in Relation to Claims by Third Parties." *Iowa Ethics Opinion* 15-03 (July 15, 2015)(pp. 7-8). Therein, it was definitively established that Respondent does not have the ability to "work around" or waive Midwest's privilege:

There are situations, usually in the attorney-disciplinary case ... In these and similar situations the client has taken no adverse action against the lawyer and, has not triggered the loss of the legal professional privilege and/or confidentiality. Absent a previous expressed written agreement by the client, it cannot be waived by a non-client third party or the lawyer who must honor it. In these cases the legal professional privilege and/or rule of confidentiality remains intact and must be honored absent express waiver from the client or court adjudication of the issue after notice to the client.

•••

4. A lawyer **must** honor the client's legal professional privilege and confidentiality and cannot invoke the implied waiver of self-defense regarding claims made against the lawyer by third parties absent the client's express written consent or order of the court after notice to the client.

Id. (at pp. 7-8)(emphasis added)

Fairness should still rule the day. In using the attorney-client privilege against Respondent in this case, the third parties in this matter (Grievance Commission through Complainant Wild and the Board) effectively forced Respondent into an ethics violation. One the one hand, Respondent was unable to defend himself in this ethics matter, or, if he chose to do so, he would be guilty of a subsequent violation to former client Midwest! This is contrary to the spirit and letter of the law.

As the record developed, there was not enough evidence to permit a fair and accurate analysis of the Respondent's conduct as it pertains to his representation of and interactions with Midwest. To find violations, the Commission was forced to move well beyond the record-making factual findings that are not supported anywhere beyond speculation and the mistaken belief that disclosure details cannot be conveyed in discussion and consultation with the client. This effectively held Respondent's attorney-client privilege obligation against him in finding the absence of his ability to present this evidence to be proof of a violation.

There are two other Iowa Appellate Court cases that are instructive in noting that sole reliance on hearsay and/or incomplete inferences/evidence does not qualify as the substantial evidence required to support violation. One, in *State v. Mulatillo*, the Court was tasked with evaluating whether or not legal counsel should have been disqualified-the primary analysis contemplated the very Rules at issue in this case. *State v. Mulatillo*, 907 N.W.2d 511 (Iowa

2018). In *Mulatillo*, the "only evidence the State provided with hearsay statements." *Id.* at 521. The Court specifically found that such hearsay statements did not rise to the level of "substantial evidence."

In the same way, two Court of Appeals of Iowa cases on the same matter are instructive. In Butt (one), the Court of Appeals cited to its prior decision and ratified the longstanding proposition that if substantial evidence is composed solely of hearsay, it should be scrutinized closely. Butt v. Iowa Bd. of Med., 836 N.W.2d 152 (Iowa App. 2013)("However, if an administrative record is composed solely of hearsay evidence, a reviewing court will examine the evidence closely in light of the entire record to see whether it rises to the necessary levels of trustworthiness, credibility and accuracy required by reasonably prudent persons in the conduct of their serious affairs.")(citing, Schmitz v. Iowa Dep't of Human Servs., 461 N.W.2d 603, 607-08 (Iowa App. 1990).

Later, in Butt (two), the Court of Appeals discussed the interplay between inferences and the evidence required. Butt v. Iowa Bd. of Med., 872 N.W.2d 410 (Iowa Ct. App. 2015)(But inferences, whether obvious or not, must amount to more than speculation and must be subject to reasonable deduction from the record.)(citing *See Lewis v. State ex. rel. Miller*, 646 N.W.2d 121, 124 (Iowa 2002) ("An inference is not legitimate if it is based upon speculation or conjecture.").

Here, it was simply unfair to use the law to take away Respondent's ability to defend against the charges, while at the same time use it against him. The record developed does not allow a meaningful analysis of the Respondent's conduct, does not support the inferences needed to support violations, and is otherwise unfair and unjust under the circumstances.

The Commission erred in finding violations of the Rules.

II. THE GRIEVANCE COMMISSION ERRED IN RECOMMENDING A SUSPENSION.

PRESERVATION OF ERROR/ SCOPE OF REVIEW

Please reference the preservation of error and scope of review for Section I, above. The same applies equally to this Section.

ARGUMENT

Although its calculations are certainly confusing, it appears that the Commission simply felt that the violations it found support a suspension that they reduced by half to account for the prior suspension Respondent received for similar conduct during the same time period. Respondent disagrees. This is not consistent with the way the Supreme Court has applied sanctions for overlapping conduct. The Supreme Court has consistently evaluated "tag along" complaints as if they had been brought concurrently. Like the attorney-client waiver issue above, this is based on fundamental fairness. The question in this case is whether or not the Respondent's suspension would have been increased had this case been presented at/around the same time¹?

In the *Noel* case, the Court analyzed the timing-relation issue in the context of the *Moorman* case:

In Iowa Supreme Court Attorney Disciplinary Board v. Moorman, we found the attorney had committed various ethical violations between 2001 and 2004, including neglect in handling client matters. We also noted that we had previously suspended the attorney's license for two years following his neglect of a client matter in 2002. We imposed a public reprimand for the 2001–2004 conduct that was the basis of the present disciplinary proceeding even though the attorney's conduct would usually generate a suspension up to two years. We reasoned,

Had we been aware of the conduct that is the subject of this disciplinary proceeding at the time of our previous decision, it is unlikely this conduct would have caused us to suspend Moorman's license for longer than two years. Because Moorman's license is presently under suspension, we see no purpose served by ordering another suspension insofar as a deterrence or protection of the public is concerned.

Likewise, even if we had been aware of Noel's conduct that gave rise to the present case when we issued our decision in February of 2019,

¹ This argument assumes that the Court does not agree with Respondent on Issue No. 1, above. Nothing herein should be construed as Respondent's concession that a violation occurred or has been proven by the evidence. This is an "in the alternative" argument.

"it is unlikely this conduct would have caused us to suspend [Noel's] license for longer than [one] year[]." Therefore, we see no reason to enhance Noel's sanction in the present case or extend the suspension we imposed in Noel I. A public reprimand is the proper sanction. However, we remind Noel that future misconduct will result in harsher sanctions.

Noel, 933 N.W.2d at 206. (Court elected to impose a public reprimand, rather than the suspension recommended by the commission)(internal citations omitted)

The Respondent believes the same logic should apply here, and that the alleged conflict of interest violations are essentially the product of the same corpus of conduct and should result in a no further sanction (or private admonition). The Commission cites no legal authority for the logic it applies in findings.

The *D'Angelo* case is particularly in opposition to the Commission's conclusion here. In that case, the Court found that the violations at issue were part of the same pattern and occurred at approximately the same as that which led to suspension and *declined* to enhance the suspension:

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