In the Supreme Court of Iowa

Supreme Court No. 21-0214 Grievance Commission No. 889

Iowa Supreme Court Attorney Disciplinary Board,

Complainant-Appellee,

VS.

Bruce A. Willey,

Respondent-Appellant

Appeal from the Report of the Iowa Supreme Court Grievance Commission

Appellee's Final Brief

Allison A. Schmidt, AT0013118
Iowa Judicial Branch Building
1111 East Court Avenue
Des Moines, IA 50319-5003
Telephone: (515) 348-4685
Fax: (515) 348-4699
allison.schmidt@iowacourts.gov

Attorney for Appellee

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

information would be handled between Catalyst and Midwest. See Hamer, 915 N.W.2d at 322-23; see also Iowa R. Prof'l Conduct r. 32:1.7 cmt. 18 ("When representation of multiple clients in a single matter is undertaken, the information must include the implications of the representation, including possible effects on loyalty, confidentiality, and the attorney-client privilege and the advantages and risks involved."). And it did not fully and accurately disclose the extent of Willey's interest in the transaction. See Iowa R. Prof'l Conduct 32:1.8(a)(1), (3) (requiring the transaction and lawyer's interest to be fully disclosed in writing); Iowa Supreme Ct. Att'y Disciplinary Bd. v. Qualley, 828 N.W.2d 282, 287–89 (Iowa 2013) (finding violations of rules 32:1.7 and 32:1.8 when attorneys claimed to have disclosed to seller that they represented both buyer and seller in transaction but did not obtain informed consent, confirmed in writing to document the disclosure to either party and did not advise either party to seek advice of independent counsel); see also Wright, 840 N.W.2d at 297, 301–02 (finding a violation of rule 32:1.8(a) when attorney failed to obtain clients' "written informed consent to the proposition that he held a contingent fee interest" in a supposed Nigerian inheritance claim and was therefore not representing those clients in the loans he solicited from them to pay taxes owed on the inheritance).

Willey's mischaracterization in his written disclosure to Midwest is particularly concerning because it minimizes his conflict of interest. Willey did not disclose in writing to Midwest the extent of his business relationships with Wild, nor did Willey disclose in writing to Midwest that Willey himself, through ownership of Orion's Pride, held a present rather than "potential" as disclosed in the Consent and Waiverownership interest in Catalyst. (App. 199-201, 300, 322). See Iowa R. Prof'l Conduct 32:1.8(a)(1), (3). Willey did not disclose in writing to Midwest that Willey would personally be receiving a significant amount of money from the May 2008 loans to Catalyst. (App. 199–201, 300–02). See id. These representations and omissions violate rules 32:1.7 and 32:1.8(a) as well as rule 32:8.4(c). See id. r. 32:8.4(c) ("It is professional misconduct for a lawyer to . . . engage in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation."); see also Wright, 840 N.W.2d at 301–02 (finding attorney's failure to disclose his pecuniary interest in a loan transaction violated both rule 32:1.8(a) and rule 32:8.4(c)).

The Midwest Consent and Waiver is similar to a "multiple-client representation letter and consent form" that the Court found insufficient

in Iowa Supreme Court Attorney Disciplinary Board v. Hamer. 915 N.W.2d at 307–08, 320. In that case, Hamer represented Paul, who was acting as a private lender, and other clients, who were the borrowers, in several separate transactions. Id. at 307-08. Paul signed a multiple-client representation letter for one of the transactions, which the Court described as "lengthy and contain[ing] mostly generalizations," and Hamer prepared a similar letter for one other transaction, although he never obtained Paul's signature on that document. Id. The Court found: "Even if Paul had signed this consent form . . . this letter was insufficient to serve as full disclosure because, at the very least, it lacked a specific discussion of the potential pitfalls involved in the transactions at hand." Id. at 320; see also Iowa Supreme Ct. Att'y Disciplinary Bd. v. Clauss, 711 N.W.2d 1, 2-3 (Iowa 2006) (noting that under the Iowa Code of Professional Responsibility rules related to conflicts of interest, the attorney is required to do more than simply warn clients of a potential conflict and ask for a waiver); In re Disciplinary Proceeding Against Hall, 329 P.3d 870, 875 (Wash. 2014) (en banc) (finding waiver provisions in an attorney's engagement letter and a will and trust to be insufficient when the provisions did not explain the lawyer's role in the transaction). Willey asserts that the Board is "nit-pick[ing]" a "multiple-page document that expressly satisfies the mandates" of the conflict-of-interest rules. (Willey Brief, p. 25). But while the Midwest Consent and Waiver may have been multiple pages, like the *Hamer* disclosures, it did not comply with the rules. Not only did the Midwest Consent and Waiver fail to discuss specifically the pitfalls related to the transaction, but it also affirmatively misrepresented Willey's personal interest in the transaction.

Willey's undisclosed business entanglements with Catalyst were significant and heightened his conflict. As a member of Catalyst, Willey was developing projects with Wild to be funded by the transaction. (App. 229, 406 (Tr. 132:6-22)). If the venture with Ramis was successful, Catalyst anticipated earning up to \$100 million over the course of two years. See Iowa Supreme Ct. Bd. of Prof'l Ethics & Conduct v. Wagner, 599 N.W.2d 721, 727 (Iowa 1999) (finding attorney's financial stake in transaction brought interests into conflict with client who was a party to the transaction and noting: "Given the uncertainty of the value of the restaurant and the lack of offers from other interested parties, the purchase of the restaurant was a risky proposition. In these circumstances [the client] had a right to expect competent, disinterested advice that would allow him to make an informed decision on whether to proceed with the purchase at all. Wagner's own interest, on the other

hand, was to make sure that the sale went through so he could earn his commission."). Willey also personally benefitted from the Midwest and Laurus loans. It appears that Willey received at least \$117,552.47 (\$50,000 + \$67,552.47).4 And Willey needed money at the time. In May of 2008, Willey had considerable financial liabilities—more than \$65,000 in credit card debt, which he was able to pay off just days after receiving money from Laurus and Midwest. (App. 311, 313). Further, Willey knew Wild had financial difficulties, was not employed, and had not completed a successful venture since their relationship began in 2005. (App. 414– 16 (Tr. 149:19–151:3), 417 (Tr. 166:7–21), 422–23 (Tr. 175:11–176:12), 430 (Tr. 188:20-24), 432 (Tr. 192:22-24)). Willey's own witness, Matt Novak, the attorney who represented him in the lawsuit initiated by Wild, testified that he knew after a single deposition that although Wild "had a lot of grandiose ideas . . . there wasn't anything of substance behind that." (App. 465 (Tr. 271:1-7), 466-67 (Tr. 273:18-274:2)). Even if Wild was enthusiastic and insistent about completing the Ramis transaction, that

⁴ In his testimony, Willey failed to recollect that he had borrowed more than \$50,000 from Catalyst until he was reminded of that fact on the witness stand. (App. 396–97 (Tr. 116:7–117:2), 424–25 (Tr. 177:23–178:1), 455 (Tr. 230:20–23)). Similarly, he failed to recollect borrowing any money from clients in his interviews with auditor McGarvey. (App. 238, 240, 328 (Tr. 27:17–24), 329 (Tr. 30:16–21)).

does not mean Willey could abandon his professional responsibilities to Midwest. *See Hamer*, 915 N.W.2d at 320 ("[A]n unconflicted attorney representing the lender in a loan transaction would carefully examine available collateral, advise the client of potential remedies in the event of default, and ensure any security interests supporting the loan were properly perfected."); *Iowa Supreme Ct. Att'y Disciplinary Bd. v. Willey* ("Willey I"), 889 N.W.2d 647, 654 (Iowa 2017) ("[O]ur own rules require that a lawyer fulfill certain duties to clients: competence, diligence, and communication. In determining whether an attorney's representation was materially limited, we ask whether the attorney was able to fully perform all of these duties to each of his or her clients." (citation omitted)).

In addition to the insufficiency and inaccuracy of Willey's written disclosures to Midwest, the first requirement of rule 32:1.8(a) was not satisfied because these transactions were not fair and reasonable to Midwest. *See* Iowa R. Prof'l Conduct 32:1.8(a)(1); *see also, e.g., Iowa Supreme Ct. Att'y Disciplinary Bd. v. Lynch*, 901 N.W.2d 501, 507 (Iowa 2017) (finding violation of 32:1.8(a)(1) when attorney in need of money sought and obtained a personal loan from clients and "[t]he interest rates were low for the risk involved, as subsequent events . . . proved"). While

the terms of the promissory note between Catalyst and Midwest were facially reasonable to Midwest, the substance of the transactions themselves were highly questionable. For instance, in the loan between Catalyst and Midwest, only Wild would be liable to Midwest in the event of a default on the promissory note because only Wild signed a personal guaranty to Midwest. Yet Willey failed to obtain a financial statement from Wild to provide to Midwest, despite Willey's knowledge Wild had significant financial liabilities. At the hearing, Willey was also unable to provide accurate details about the value of Wild's interest in The IDEA Group, and according to Wild, Willey never assessed the value. (App. 371–72 (Tr. 89:8–90:19), 427–28 (Tr. 184:9–185:16), 459–60 (Tr. 244:23–245:4), 461 (Tr. 252:3–20)).

In addition, there was a great deal of unassessed risk associated with the related transaction between Catalyst and Ramis. Ramis, a European organization that had never previously consummated a deal with either Willey or Wild, promised an outrageous return on Catalyst's \$500,000 investment: a return of the principal within 10 days and a credit line to draw up to \$100 million dollars over the course of two years. (App. 196, 205, 361–63 (Tr. 78:11–80:11), 442–46 (Tr. 210:5–214:1)). According to Willey, this type of transaction is subject to "significant"

restrictions" in the United States. (App. 426 (Tr. 180:4–15)). Dalton wrote to Willey in May of 2008: "Worst case scenario is that nothing happens but you get your principal returned, in my opinion the odds of nothing happening are zero unless we have another world war." (App. 197). Willey recalled that Ramis was "being fairly high pressure about getting the money moving forward." (App. 364-65 (Tr. 81:21-82:2)). Willey had not met Dalton in person or previously completed a transaction with Dalton and testified he was not sure whether Wild had transacted with Dalton previously; he further stated that he did not have enough information to form any independent opinion of Ramis. (App. 351–53 (Tr. 66:19-68:8), 384 (Tr. 104:4-16)). Wild himself testified he had never obtained project funding as the result of a transaction resembling the Ramis transaction. (App. 445 (Tr. 213:5–8)). Regardless of these glaring red flags, Willey still solicited funding from Midwest on behalf of Catalyst. Even more concerning, Willey almost immediately borrowed a significant amount of the money Catalyst obtained, a fact that was not disclosed in writing to Midwest. See Att'y Grievance Comm'n v. McLaughlin, 813 A.2d 1145, 1168 (Md. 2002) (noting that "to sustain a transaction of advantage to himself with his client, the attorney has the burden of showing, not only that he used no undue influence, but that he gave his client all the information and advice which it would have been his duty to give if he himself had not been interested, and that the transaction was as beneficial to the client as it would have been had the client dealt with a stranger" (quoting *Att'y Grievance Comm'n v. Snyder*, 793 A.2d 515, 529 (Md. 2002))).

Willey has placed the blame for moving forward with the Ramis-related transactions on Wild, characterizing himself as a naïve attorney who relied upon the representations of his client, an experienced businessman. (App. 350 (Tr. 65:9–12), 414 (Tr. 149:3–10), 430 (Tr. 188:8–10)). But Willey was the participant with experience. He had been practicing law for nearly twenty years and specialized in business law. (App. 8, 14, 240, 329–30 (Tr. 30:22–31:10), 335 (Tr. 49:2–14), 411–12 (Tr. 143:8–144:12)).

Willey emphasizes that "the lone piece of purported evidence" presented by the Board in support of its violations concerning Midwest is Exhibit 43, the Midwest Consent and Waiver. (Willey Brief, p. 12). This is not accurate. Nonetheless, the Midwest Consent and Waiver, which Willey testified was his attempt to comply with the requirements of the conflict-of-interest rules, (App. 368–69 (Tr. 86:20–87:9)), as well as the

promissory note between Catalyst and Midwest, Exhibit 20, are central pieces of evidence in this matter. (App. 199–201, 300–02).

Willey argues that the disclosures required by the conflict-ofinterest rules need not be entirely in writing. This is incorrect. As noted in *Hamer*, oral disclosures are insufficient under the current Rules of Professional Conduct. See 915 N.W.2d at 319–20. In that matter, some of the conflict-of-interest violations occurred after Iowa's transition to the Rules of Professional Conduct and some occurred before. Id. At the hearing, Hamer and his client disagreed about the oral disclosures made, and the Court noted that unlike rule 32:1.7, the predecessor conflict-ofinterest rules, DR 5-105(B)-(D), did not require informed consent to be confirmed in writing.⁵ *Id.* at 319. With respect to the transactions occurring after the change to the current rules, the Court looked to Hamer's written disclosure and found it was insufficient because it failed to include the "required specific, in-context assessment of the pitfalls that

⁵ Both of the other cases cited by Willey in support of his assertion that the conflict-of-interest requirements may be satisfied by oral discussions—*Iowa Supreme Court Attorney Disciplinary Board v. Wintroub*, 745 N.W.2d 469, 474 (Iowa 2008), and *Iowa Supreme Court Board of Professional Ethics & Conduct v. Wagner*, 599 N.W.2d at 727–28—similarly involve the predecessor rules that lack the "in writing" requirement.

might arise in the course of the loan" that would make the advice of independent counsel desirable. *Id.* at 320. Willey emphasizes that the *Hamer* case uses the term "discussion" in analyzing the informed consent requirement and argues that discussion is oral. (Willey Brief, p. 13). But *Hamer* clearly contemplates a full written disclosure and uses the term "discussion" in reference to the written informed-consent letter:

With respect to the transaction that occurred after July 2005, it is undisputed that Hamer did not obtain informed consent from Paul confirmed *in writing* as required by rule 32:1.7(b). We note that Hamer prepared a multiple-client representation letter and consent form for this transaction, but this letter was not signed by Paul. . . . Even if Paul had signed this consent form, as we explained above with respect to the prior, similar informed-consent letter, this letter was insufficient to serve as full disclosure because, at the very least, it lacked a specific *discussion* of the potential pitfalls involved in the transactions at hand.

Id. (second emphasis added); see also id. at 322 ("While the code and the rules allow a client to waive the conflict of interest, the onerous burden of ensuring documentary evidence of good faith and full disclosure should make such business transactions the exception rather than the rule."); Iowa Supreme Ct. Att'y Disciplinary Bd. v. Powell, 901 N.W.2d 513, 516 (Iowa 2017) ("In short, the rule requires (1) fair terms that are fully disclosed, (2) advice on independent counsel and the opportunity to obtain it, and (3) informed consent. These requirements must each be

evidenced in writing."). Because of the writing requirement in the conflict-of-interest rules, speculation beyond the record is not required to find a rule violation pertaining to Midwest as Willey suggests. Not only is the Midwest Consent and Waiver insufficient because it fails to include a "specific, in-context assessment of the pitfalls that might arise" but also because it mischaracterizes Willey's interest in the loan transaction.

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